# COMMITTEE ON RULES OF PRACTICE AND PROCEDURE Meeting of January 9-10, 2014 Phoenix, Arizona

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS Attendance..... 1 3 Introductory Remarks.... Approval of the Minutes of the Last Meeting...... 3 Report of the Administrative Office..... 3 Reports of the Advisory Committees: Appellate Rules..... 4 Bankruptcy Rules..... 7 Civil Rules. 14 19 Criminal Rules. Evidence Rules.... 27 Panel Discussion on the Political and Professional Context of Rulemaking..... 27 Report of the CM/ECF Subcommittee..... 29 Next Committee Meeting..... 31

# **ATTENDANCE**

The winter meeting of the Judicial Conference Committee on Rules of Practice and Procedure was held in Phoenix, Arizona, on Thursday and Friday, January 9 and 10, 2014. The following members were present:

Judge Jeffrey S. Sutton, Chair
Dean C. Colson, Esquire
Roy T. Englert, Jr., Esquire
Gregory G. Garre, Esquire
Judge Neil M. Gorsuch
Judge Susan P. Graber
Chief Justice Wallace B. Jefferson
Dean David F. Levi
Judge Patrick J. Schiltz
Judge Amy J. St. Eve
Larry D. Thompson, Esquire
Judge Richard C. Wesley
Judge Jack Zouhary

Deputy Attorney General James M. Cole was unable to attend. Elizabeth J. Shapiro, Esq., represented the Department of Justice.

Professor Geoffrey C. Hazard, Jr., consultant to the committee, and Professor R. Joseph Kimble, the committee's style consultant, participated. Judge Jeremy D. Fogel, Director of the Federal Judicial Center, also participated.

Professor Daniel R. Coquillette, the committee's reporter, chaired a panel discussion on the political and professional context of rulemaking with the following panelists: Judge Lee H. Rosenthal, former chair of the committee; Judge Diane P. Wood, former member of the committee; Judge Marilyn L. Huff, former member of the committee; Judge Anthony J. Scirica (by telephone), former chair of the committee; Peter G. McCabe, Esq., former secretary to the committee.

# Providing support to the committee were:

Professor Daniel R. Coquillette The committee's reporter

Jonathan C. Rose The committee's secretary and Rules

Committee Officer

Deputy Rules Officer Benjamin J. Robinson Julie Wilson Rules Office Attorney

Chief Counsel to the Rules Committees Andrea L. Kuperman Tim Reagan

Senior Research Associate, Federal Judicial

Center

Frances F. Skillman Rules Office Paralegal Specialist

Toni Loftin Rules Office Administrative Specialist

# Representing the advisory committees were:

Advisory Committee on Appellate Rules —

Judge Steven M. Colloton, Chair

Professor Catherine T. Struve, Reporter (by telephone)

Advisory Committee on Bankruptcy Rules —

Judge Eugene R. Wedoff, Chair

Professor S. Elizabeth Gibson, Reporter (by telephone)

Professor Troy A. McKenzie, Associate Reporter

Advisory Committee on Civil Rules —

Judge David G. Campbell, Chair

Professor Edward H. Cooper, Reporter

Professor Richard L. Marcus, Associate Reporter

Advisory Committee on Criminal Rules —

Judge Reena Raggi, Chair

Professor Sara Sun Beale, Reporter (by telephone)
Professor Nancy J. King, Associate Reporter (by telephone)
Advisory Committee on Evidence Rules —
Judge Sidney A. Fitzwater, Chair
Professor Daniel J. Capra, Reporter

#### INTRODUCTORY REMARKS

Judge Sutton opened the meeting by welcoming everyone and thanking the Rules Office staff for arranging the logistics of the meeting, including a very economical rate for the hotel.

# Committee Membership Changes

Judge Sutton announced that the terms of Judges Huff and Wood had ended on October 1, 2013. He thanked them for their distinguished service on the committee, described their many contributions to the committee's work, and presented each with a plaque. Judge Sutton also announced that Mr. McCabe, who had served as secretary to the committee for 21 years, had recently retired from the Administrative Office. Judge Sutton noted that Mr. McCabe had been the longest serving employee of the Administrative Office and had dedicated 49 years to government service. Judge Sutton thanked Mr. McCabe for his extraordinary service to the committee and the courts. He also noted that the committee would be losing three great musicians, as Judges Huff and Wood and Mr. McCabe were all talented musicians.

Judge Sutton introduced the new committee members, Judge Graber and Judge St. Eve, and he summarized their impressive legal backgrounds.

Judge Sutton noted that the representatives from the Civil Rules Committee were at the courthouse holding a hearing on the proposals that are currently out for public comment, but that they would be joining the second day of the meeting.

# APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING

The committee, without objection and by voice vote, approved the minutes of the last meeting, held on June 3–4, 2013.

# REPORT OF THE ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICE

Judge Sutton reported that the rules committees had been engaged with Congress recently. He said that last June Congress had introduced legislation to deal with patent assertion entities. He said the first draft from the House was aggressive in attempting to

preempt the Rules Enabling Act process. He reported that he and Judge Campbell had met several times with congressional staffers, that the original draft legislation had been modified, that there were several bills under consideration, and that discussions are continuing.

#### REPORT OF THE ADVISORY COMMITTEE ON APPELLATE RULES

Judge Colloton and Professor Struve presented the report of the advisory committee, as set out in Judge Colloton's memorandum and attachments of December 16, 2013 (Agenda Item 3). Judge Colloton reported that the advisory committee's fall meeting had been cancelled due to the lapse in appropriations during the government shutdown and that it had no action items to present.

# Informational Items

Judge Colloton highlighted a few items that the advisory committee currently has on its agenda.

# FED. R. APP. P. 4(a)(4)

Judge Colloton reported that a lopsided circuit split has developed concerning whether a motion filed within a purported extension of a non-extendable deadline under Civil Rules 50, 52, or 59 counts as "timely" under Appellate Rule 4(a)(4), which provides that the "timely" filing of certain motions tolls the time to appeal. The advisory committee is considering whether and how to amend the rule to answer this question. Civil Rule 6(b) provides that a district court may not extend the time for filing motions under Civil Rules 50, 52, or 59. Nonetheless, district courts sometimes extend the time to file such motions even though Civil Rule 6(b) does not allow it. In other instances, a party files a motion late, the opposing party does not object, and the district court rules on it on the merits. Thus, the question has arisen whether a motion is "timely" under Appellate Rule 4(a)(4) if it is not within the time set in the Civil Rules but is nonetheless considered on the merits by the district court either because of an erroneous extension or the failure of the opposing party to object.

The Sixth Circuit has held that where the non-movant forfeits its objection to the motion's untimeliness, the motion is timely for purposes of Rule 4(a)(4). However, the Third, Seventh, Ninth, and Eleventh Circuits have held to the contrary. The courts holding that such motions are not timely reason that Rule 4(a)(4) was designed to provide a uniform deadline for the named motions in order to set a definite point in time when litigation would come to an end. Making the time for filing these motions depend on developments in the district court introduces a disparity that Rule 4(a)(4) was designed to eliminate. Judge Colloton noted that the Seventh Circuit has commented that the Sixth

Circuit's approach was uncomfortably close to the "unique circumstances" doctrine that was overruled in *Bowles v. Russell*, 551 U.S. 205 (2007). He added that the advisory committee will address these issues at its spring meeting.

A member stated that he supported the minority view that would forgive a late filing if it was done in reliance on a court order. Judge Sutton questioned whether doing so would overrule *Bowles*. The member responded that it would not; the rules could provide that if the deadline is set by rule and the judge purports to extend it in error, then a litigant who has relied on the erroneous extension is excused from the consequences of late filing. Another member noted it is different if the deadline is set by statute.

Another member suggested a wording change to one of the tentative sketches of possible amendments to address this issue, asking if there was a more sensitive way to reference the limits on judicial authority in the phrase: "a court order that exceeds the court's authority (if any) to extend the deadline . . . ." The reporter responded that she understood the concern, but she did not want the rule language to imply that a court had authority to extend deadlines outside the time allowed in the rules, as judges exceeding their authority in this regard is the root of the problem. She said that all suggestions on wording are welcome. Another member suggested instead using language along the lines of: "a court order that extends the deadline beyond that otherwise permitted by the rules . . . ."

# FED. R. APP. P. 4(c)

Judge Colloton reported that the advisory committee has also begun a project to examine Rule 4(c)(1)'s inmate-filing provision for notices of appeal. The advisory committee is considering amendments to the rule that might address, among other things, whether an inmate must prepay postage in order to benefit from the inmate-filing rule; whether and when an inmate must provide a declaration attesting to the circumstances of the filing; whether the inmate must use a legal mail system when one exists in the relevant institution; and whether a represented inmate can benefit from the inmate-filing rule. The project grew out of a 2007 suggestion by Judge Diane Wood, suggesting that the committee consider clarifying whether Rule 4(c)(1)'s inmate-filing rule requires prepayment of postage. Judge Colloton reported that there is ambiguity in the case law on whether prepayment of postage is required; whether inmates must file a declaration; and the meaning of the sentence in the rule that says that if a legal mail system exists, the inmate must use the system. He said that a subcommittee is working on these and related issues.

#### LENGTH LIMITS

Judge Colloton reported that the Appellate Rules have some length limits set out in type-volume terms and some set out in pages. He said that the advisory committee is considering whether all the limits should be measured by type-volume given the

ubiquitous use of computers, and if so, the best means of appropriately converting current limits that are set in pages to type-volume limits. He noted that when the rules governing the length of briefs were changed to convert to type-volume limits, the rules set a type-volume limit that approximated the conversion from a page limit and provided a shorter safe harbor set in pages. The advisory committee is considering the option of taking a similar approach for other limits that are currently set in pages.

Judge Colloton stated that a safe harbor set in pages must be shorter than the type-volume limit to prevent lawyers from using the safe harbor to get around the type-volume limit, but the shorter page limit can create a hardship for pro se litigants. As a result, another option the advisory committee is considering would differentiate between papers prepared on a computer and papers prepared without the aid of a computer. Judge Colloton noted that it was unlikely that lawyers would switch to using typewriters in order to get around the type-volume limits. Another issue is that there is evidence that when the brief page limit was converted from 50 pages to a type-volume limit of 14,000 words, it resulted in an increase in the permitted length of a brief. The advisory committee is considering whether to adjust that limit to 12,500 or 13,000 words as part of the length-limit project.

#### AMICUS BRIEFS ON REHEARING

Judge Colloton reported that the advisory committee is also considering the possibility of addressing amicus filings in connection with petitions for panel rehearing and/or rehearing en banc. He stated that the advisory committee had heard that lawyers are frustrated that there is no rule with respect to rehearing that sets out when an amicus brief must be filed or how long it must be. The committee is considering whether there should be a national rule on these topics. Judge Colloton noted that some circuits have no local rule on these matters. However, there is a concern that any rule that addresses amicus briefs on petitions for rehearing might stimulate more such amicus briefs, which some courts do not desire. Judge Colloton noted that some courts even have rules that generally prohibit amicus filings on rehearing, or that only allow them with leave of court. Matters that could be addressed by a proposed rule include length, timing, and other topics that Rule 29 addresses with respect to amicus filings at the merits-briefing stage.

A judge member noted that amicus briefs are usually helpful on rehearing. She stated that sometimes there are sleeper issues that the appellate court may not be aware of and that she favored explicitly clarifying that such amicus briefs are permissible. Judge Colloton noted that the suggestion, if implemented, would not require allowing amicus briefs on rehearing, but instead would set out the procedure to be followed if the circuit allowed such amicus briefs.

#### REPORT OF THE ADVISORY COMMITTEE ON BANKRUPTCY RULES

Judge Wedoff and Professors Gibson and McKenzie presented the report of the advisory committee, as set out in Judge Wedoff's memorandum and attachments of December 12, 2013 (Agenda Item 4).

Amendment for Final Approval

FED. R. BANKR. P. 1007(a)

Judge Wedoff reported that the advisory committee was seeking approval to make a technical and conforming amendment to Rule 1007(a). Subdivisions (a)(1) and (a)(2) of Rule 1007 require the filing at the outset of a case of the names and addresses of all entities included on "Schedules D, E, F, G, and H." The restyled schedules for individual cases that were published for comment in August 2013 use slightly different designations. Under the new numbering and lettering protocol of the proposed forms, the schedules referred to in Rule 1007(a)(1) and (a)(2) will become Official Forms 106 D, E/F, G, and H—reflecting a combination of what had been separate Schedules E and F into a single Schedule E/F. Judge Wedoff stated that in order to make Rule 1007(a) consistent with the new form designations, the advisory committee was proposing a conforming amendment to subdivisions (a)(1) and (a)(2) of that rule. Judge Wedoff reported that the revised schedules would not go into effect until December 1, 2015, so he asked that the conforming rule change be held back to go into effect on the same date.

The committee, without objection and by voice vote, approved the proposed amendment to Rule 1007(a) for transmission to the Judicial Conference for final approval without publication.

Informational Items

# CHAPTER 13 PLAN FORM

Professor McKenzie reported on comments received on the published proposed chapter 13 plan form and related rule amendments. The advisory committee had drafted an official form for plans in chapter 13 cases and had proposed related amendments to nine of the Bankruptcy Rules. Professor McKenzie reported that the form and rule amendments were published in August 2013 and have drawn over 30 comments so far. He said that very few comments expressed opposition to the form, but many were long and detailed. Professor McKenzie reported that since so many comments had already come in, the working group had already begun categorizing and reviewing the comments, although of course its work could not be completed until the comment period closed in February and all the comments were received.

Professor McKenzie said that one common theme that had emerged was what to do when the form provides a number of choices to the debtor even though some choices may not be available in the debtor's district. The advisory committee did not take a position on the differences in these choices between districts, but one concern is that providing the choice of various options on the form might indicate that the committee was stating that both choices are available to a debtor. Professor McKenzie noted that the concern is that this might lead to confusion and increased litigation. Judge Wedoff provided an example. He said one open question is, if the debtor wants to pay a mortgage, whether he can pay the mortgagee directly or instead must pay the trustee. If the payment is to the trustee, there is a fee assessed on the payment, meaning that more has to be paid on the mortgage claim. Some jurisdictions require it to be paid through the trustee, while others allow the debtor to be the payment manager. Judge Wedoff noted that providing both options on the form might imply that both options are available in all jurisdictions. Professor McKenzie added that one way to respond to the comments would be to include a warning on the form that the provision of an option does not mean it is available in the debtor's district. The working group will report to the advisory committee at the spring meeting.

A participant asked whether the advisory committee had gotten feedback that the form will be confusing to pro se debtors. Professor McKenzie responded that so far there had only been a couple of comments on how the form might impact pro se litigants. One comment had said it might attract additional pro se litigants, and the other had said it would be confusing to pro se litigants. The participant asked how the advisory committee could get more input from pro se litigants, since such litigants do not often comment on published proposals. Professor McKenzie stated that the advisory committee hopes to get comments from consumer bankruptcy groups, who often think about the nature of pro se litigation, and he noted that it is very difficult for pro se litigants to get through chapter 13 bankruptcies successfully. He said that one thing the working group is considering is more prominent language about that difficulty. Judge Wedoff noted that providing a plan form might help pro se litigants because it would set out what needs to be done and might allow some debtors to do it on their own without an attorney.

Judge Wedoff noted that as part of its Forms Modernization Project, the advisory committee had been looking closely at whether the forms can be used by pro se debtors. He said one of the goals of that project is to make the forms more user-friendly. Another participant noted that law students use the forms when they represent clients in bankruptcy clinics, and he suggested that the advisors for such clinics might be a good source of information on how the forms might be used by law students, which can be analogized to the pro se context. Judge Wedoff noted that the advisory committee, with the help of the Federal Judicial Center, had been vetting the proposed forms with a group of law students.

#### **ELECTRONIC SIGNATURES**

Judge Wedoff reported on the comments received on proposed amendments to Rule 5005 on filing and transmittal of papers, which is designed to address the question of how to deal with electronic signatures by someone other than the attorney who is filing a document in a bankruptcy case. He noted that there is no problem with signatures of attorneys who file documents because they have to have a login and password, which constitutes their signature. To date, the rules have not addressed the signatures of nonfilers, which in bankruptcy is primarily the debtor. Judge Wedoff noted that the typical practice has been for local rules to require the filing attorney to retain the original document signed by the nonfiler for a period of time, usually five years. Attorneys have pointed out that this becomes a problem in terms of storage space. Some bankruptcy firms may generate thousands of case filings a year, making the volume of original documents to retain substantial. In addition, some lawyers have reported that they are uncomfortable retaining documents that might later be used to prosecute a crime against their clients. Further, the prosecutor in a future criminal prosecution will be relying on the attorney's good faith in retaining documents with the original signatures.

The proposal published for comment provides that, instead of requiring the retention of a "wet" signed copy, the original signature could be scanned into a computer readable document and the scanned signature would be usable in lieu of the original for all purposes. Judge Wedoff noted that the published proposal asked for comment on two alternatives. One would have a notary certify that it is the debtor signing and that it is the complete document. The other would deem filing by a registered person equivalent to the person's certification that the scanned signature was part of the original document.

Professor Gibson said that only four comments had been received so far. One expressed confusion about when original documents must be retained under the proposed rule. Another erroneously read the proposal to require the entire document, not just the signature page, to be scanned, which would require much more electronic storage space. She said that two recent comments support the proposed amendment and urge adoption without requiring a notary's certification.

The representative for the Department of Justice noted that the Evidence Rules Committee had been planning to host a symposium on electronic evidence this past fall, which would have included a discussion of this issue of electronic signatures, but that the symposium was cancelled due to the government shutdown. She noted that the scheduling of the symposium had nonetheless prompted the Department to come to some tentative conclusions on this issue. While the Department will be submitting formal comments, the representative previewed the initial views of the Department. She reported that there was resistence in the Department to removing the retention of original signatures. She noted that there was a great amount of work done within the Department

in examining this issue. There was a working group that cut across disciplines and there was a survey conducted of U.S. Attorney's offices. She said that prosecutors overwhelmingly thought there was no problem with the current system. They also reported that taking away the requirement of retaining originals would lead to more cases where signatures were repudiated. The vast majority of survey respondents thought the proposed rule would make it much harder to prove authenticity in situations where the signatures were repudiated. She noted that the FBI has a policy that it will not provide definitive testimony to authenticate a signature without the original document. With an electronic signature, the FBI cannot determine certain characteristics that they would look at in comparing signatures, like pressure points and whether there were tremors. Without having an FBI expert, prosecutors would have to resort to circumstantial evidence to prove authenticity, which would often involve measures such as getting warrants to search computers to show that a document was generated from that computer, conducting forensic analysis, tracing IP addresses, and similar actions that would add burden and expense.

The Department's representative explained that the Department also looked at the tax experience because Evidence Rule 902(10) makes certain types of documents selfauthenticating when a statute provides for prima facie presumption of authenticity. The advisory committee note states that the tax statute is one example. However, in looking into the possibility of creating a statutory presumption, the Department found that it would have to be either a generic statute that addressed this subject holistically or a bankruptcy-specific statute. The problem with a bankruptcy-specific statute, she said, was that the Department had found at least 101 different crimes that require the authenticity of the signature to be proven as an element of the crime. If a bankruptcyspecific statute were implemented, she said, there was the possibility of needing to do seriatim statutes because bankruptcy might just be the first area to start doing everything electronically. She said eventually there might need to be dozens of statutes. Yet, the alternative of crafting a generic statute now to address the subject holistically created the concern that it would have unintended consequences if all the possibly affected criminal statutes were not first examined. Thus, she noted, it was premature to start trying to get a statute without knowing all of the ramifications. She also stated that survey respondents felt the tax statute was somewhat unique in that taxpayers are required by law to sign a return and if they repudiate their signature on the return that means they have violated the law by not filing a tax return if there is no other valid tax return with their signature. She noted that Judge Wedoff has explained that there are some parallels in bankruptcy.

The Department participant also stated that the working group did not find persuasive the concerns that have been raised about why the rule should be changed. She stated that publicly-filed documents are not privileged, so an attorney should not be concerned about being called upon to produce a client's documents. Further, professional responsibility rules prohibit an attorney from assisting with a crime or fraud. She said

that while storage can be burdensome, there are retention periods, so there should be recycling of the documents and not an ever-increasing amount of documents needing to be retained. She noted that one possibility raised by Judge Wedoff was that perhaps the whole document could be scanned and saved electronically and only the signature page would need to be kept in its original format, and she noted that this option was something to think about. Finally, the working group was not persuaded by the rationale that there are varying retention periods across the country. The group felt that if that was a concern, then it could be fixed simply by creating a uniform retention period. The prosecutors thought that the varying periods actually hurt them the most because the retention periods are often shorter than the statute of limitations for the crimes being prosecuted. In sum, she said, the Department feels that it is premature to remove the retention requirements. There was a feeling in the Department, she said, that technology is continuing to move forward. It might be that in the near future things like thumb prints and biometrics will serve as signatures, which would solve the problem of authenticating without the need to store lots of documents. The participant stated that the Department would have presented this summary of its views in greater detail at the symposium, and that the Department is committed to working with the committee on this issue.

Judge Wedoff said that the advisory committee will await the formal comment from the Department and expressed gratitude for hearing their initial views in the interim. He noted that the prosecuting community has not had the experience of having to use scanned signatures in lieu of having an FBI expert testify to the validity of a wet signature. Whether scanned signatures would present a problem in persuading the trier of fact is not yet clear. Bankruptcy presents a special circumstance, he said. Even without the change to Rule 5005, he said, every document filed by a debtor's attorney is filed under Civil Rule 11, which requires certifying that the filing is authentic. Rule 5005 would only underline the Rule 11 requirement that the signature is authentic. So, the debtor who asserts that a signature on a filed document is not his own will have to overcome the fact that the signature appears to be his own and will have to assert that his attorney lied when the document was filed. It may be that it is not that difficult to persuade a trier of fact of the legitimacy of a debtor's signature on a bankruptcy document. He also noted that, in this regard, there may be some source of empirical evidence as to the difficulty of not having wet signatures because there is at least one jurisdiction in the country—Chicago—that does not have a requirement for retaining wet signatures for debtors' filings for several years. Any prosecutions that have taken place in that district would have taken place on the basis of the debtor's scanned copy. He stated that there are not a lot of these types of prosecutions that come up and that when they do come up, debtors do not contest the legitimacy of their signature. He noted that he had encountered situations where a United States Trustee had filed a motion to deny the debtor a discharge because the debtor supplied deliberately false information on the debtor's schedules. The debtors defend against those arguments not on the basis that they did not sign the schedules, but by arguing things like they told their attorney about the

matter at issue and the attorney did not put it in the schedule or they did not realize it was required to be put on the schedule. He stated that he had never encountered a case where the debtor denied his own signature. Judge Wedoff reported that the Department of Justice representative had agreed to look into the Department's survey results that had come from Chicago.

A member questioned whether the concern was with ensuring the integrity of the judicial process or collateral consequences and enabling future prosecutions. Judge Wedoff responded that the advisory committee's initial approach was designed to ensure the integrity of the judicial process. We want to make sure, he said, that the documents being filed are legitimately signed by the debtor. The informal feedback from the Department has to do with collateral consequences, and the concern is the potential difficulty in proving malfeasance by the debtor. The member responded that a similar concern may be true in many areas of the law and he wondered whether the rules committees' focus ought to be on the judicial process, not necessarily to make it easier or harder for the Department of Justice to prosecute crimes years later.

Judge Sutton emphasized that this is just now out for publication and the advisory committee is awaiting the formal response from the Department. He asked whether the rescheduled Evidence Rules technology symposium will include this issue. Professor Capra responded that it would not because the original idea had been to get ahead of the public comment and to get the Department's views on this issue, which has already been accomplished. While others were going to participate, they now had the ability to comment during the public comment process, which would be over by the time a new symposium could be scheduled. Professor Capra noted that one thing that came up in putting the original symposium together is that the issue is not forgery, but that the true signature might be improperly attached to the document. He said that is the issue that concerned the CM/ECF Subcommittee—someone could just scan a signature and put it on any document. Judge Wedoff said that this is why the two alternative means of assuring that the signature was authentic and was attached to the proper document were published for public comment. The Department's representative noted that the Department did not think that the option of requiring a notary's signature was a good one.

Judge Wedoff noted that it might be that bankruptcy could serve as an experiment for testing this. There are extra protections in bankruptcy, he said, like the attorney certification, that would not necessarily exist in other areas. He said that the advisory committee would have a better idea of what to do next after the comment period ends. The Department of Justice's representative noted that as a matter of evidence, the attorney's certification could not be introduced because it would be hearsay, so there would still be the need for a witness to testify to the person's signature, which might lead to calling lawyers to testify.

A member noted that the Department's concerns were about collateral prosecutions years down the road, and that he was not sure the judiciary should be too concerned about that. He said the requirements to authenticate the signature might impose a burden in current proceedings for the benefit of possible later collateral proceedings. He added that the advisory committee's concerns should be that this document in this litigation is what it purports to be. A certification by the attorney, as an officer of the court, should normally be sufficient for that purpose, he said. He said he was open to the possibility of the need for further assurances, but that the question should be focused on assuring that the document is authentic for the current litigation, not on assuring its authenticity for use in possible later collateral proceedings.

Professor Coquillette commented that the rules committees have a goal of transsubstantive rulemaking, but bankruptcy is really different in this area because of the factors mentioned by Judge Wedoff, such as attorney certification.

A member asked whether the advisory committee is studying what is going on in Chicago, where there is no requirement to retain wet signatures. Judge Wedoff reported that the Department of Justice had done a survey and was going to see if it could pull out data on prosecutions in Chicago. Judge Wedoff said that he would talk to the local United States Trustee's office to find out their experience. He noted that he is not aware of any criminal prosecutions for bankruptcy fraud in Chicago that raised a question of validity of the debtor's signature. The number of prosecutions for bankruptcy fraud is very small to begin with, he said, and then it would be a very small subset of that small subset that would involve the validity of the debtor's signature. So, he said, there would not be a huge amount of empirical data to gather on this.

Judge Sutton thanked Judge Wedoff for the summary of the issues and thanked the Department's representative for previewing the results of the Department's work on this issue.

# FORMS MODERNIZATION PROJECT

Judge Wedoff provided an update on the advisory committee's Forms Modernization Project, a multi-year project to revise many of the official bankruptcy forms. The work began in 2008 and is being carried out by an ad hoc group composed of members of the advisory committee's subcommittee on forms, working with representatives of other relevant Judicial Conference committees. The goals of the project are to improve the official bankruptcy forms by providing a uniform format and using non-legal terminology, and to make the forms more accessible for data collection and reporting. The advisory committee decided to implement the modernized forms in stages in order to allow for fuller testing of the technological features and to facilitate a smoother transition. Judge Wedoff said that the first two phases of the project were

nearly complete: a small number of the modernized forms became effective on December 1, 2013, and the balance of the forms used by individual debtors is currently out for comment. Their effective date will be delayed until December 1, 2015, to coincide with the effective date of the non-individual forms. Judge Wedoff said that, surprisingly, not many comments had been received yet on the individual forms out for public comment. He said the comment period was not yet over, but that so far the revised forms seem to have been met with general acceptance.

The final batch will be non-individual forms, which were separated from individual forms because they ask for different information in many situations, and which would be expected to become effective on December 1, 2015. Judge Wedoff noted that people filling out non-individual forms are likely to have access to a more sophisticated legal understanding of the bankruptcy system. Non-individuals have to be represented by an attorney, and are usually associated with corporations or other entities that are likely to have a better understanding of the information called for on the forms.

Judge Wedoff said the agenda materials provided an example of a non-individual form to show the differences from the individual form. The non-individual form is shorter and uses more technical accounting language than the individual form, but not legalese. He said that this is a preview of what the advisory committee will likely be presenting for approval for publication at the Spring 2014 Standing Committee meeting. When this last batch of forms is approved, he said, the advisory committee will be finished with the complete package of form changes.

# REPORT OF THE ADVISORY COMMITTEE ON CIVIL RULES

Judge Campbell and Professors Cooper and Marcus presented the report of the advisory committee, as set forth in Judge Campbell's memorandum and attachments of December 6, 2013 (Agenda Item 9).

Amendments for Publication

FED. R. CIV. P. 82

Professor Cooper reported that the advisory committee sought approval to publish at an appropriate time changes to Rule 82 on venue for admiralty or maritime claims to reflect changes Congress had made to the venue statutes. It has long been understood that the general venue statutes do not apply to actions in which the district court exercises admiralty or maritime jurisdiction, except that the transfer provisions do apply. This proposition could become ambiguous when a case either could be brought in the admiralty or maritime jurisdiction or could be brought as an action at law under the "saving to suitors" clause. Rule 82 has addressed this problem by invoking Rule 9(h) to ensure that the Civil Rules do not appear to modify the venue rules for admiralty or

maritime actions. It provides that an admiralty or maritime claim under Rule 9(h) is not a civil action for purposes of 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391–1392. Rule 9(h) provides that an action cognizable only in the admiralty or maritime jurisdiction is an admiralty or maritime claim for purposes of Rule 82. It further provides that if a claim for relief is within the admiralty or maritime jurisdiction but also is within the court's subject-matter jurisdiction on some other ground, the pleading may designate the claim as an admiralty or maritime claim.

Professor Cooper reported that legislation had added a new § 1390 to the venue statutes and repealed the former § 1392. The reference to § 1392 in current Rule 82 clearly needs to be deleted as a technical amendment, he said. The advisory committee also thought it was appropriate to add a reference to § 1390, but the reason was a little more complicated.

Professor Cooper explained that new § 1390(b) provides that the whole chapter on venue, apart from the transfer provisions, does not apply in a civil action when the district court exercises jurisdiction conferred by § 1333. Section 1333 provides jurisdiction for admiralty and maritime cases, "saving to suitors in all cases all other remedies to which they are otherwise entitled." By referring to § 1333, § 1390(b) removes application of the general venue statutes for cases that can be brought only in the admiralty or maritime jurisdiction and for cases that might have been brought in some other grant of subjectmatter jurisdiction but that have been designated as admiralty or maritime claims under Rule 9(h). Since the general venue provisions do not apply when the court is exercising admiralty or maritime jurisdiction, it seems wise to add § 1390 to Rule 82. Doing so would make claims designated as admiralty or maritime claims under Rule 9(h) exempt from the general venue provisions just as those that get admiralty or maritime jurisdiction under § 1333 are so exempt. Professor Cooper noted that the advisory committee had sent the proposed revision to the Maritime Law Association, which had approved of the proposal. Nonetheless, the advisory committee recommended the proposal for publication, not for approval as a technical amendment, because of the complexity of the subject matter.

The committee, without objection and by voice vote, approved the proposed amendment to Civil Rule 82 for publication.

FED. R. CIV. P. 6(d)

Judge Campbell reported that the advisory committee recommended for publication at a suitable time an amendment to Rule 6(d), which currently provides three extra days for responding to certain types of service, including service by electronic means. The proposed amendment would strike the reference in Rule 6(d) to Rule 5(b)(2)(E), which references electronic service. This change would remove the three extra days for electronic service. Judge Campbell said that the Appellate, Bankruptcy,

and Criminal Rules Committees were working through this same issue now with respect to parallel provisions in each set of rules. He stated that, depending on the timing of approval of similar changes to the other sets of rules, they could all be published together, or the Civil Rules change could be published first as a bellwether. He added that the advisory committee also recommended adding parenthetical explanations to Rule 6(d) that would provide brief explanations of the type of service referenced. This would prevent users from having to flip back to the cross-referenced rules to find the types of service that receive the three added days. The committee note, he said, could explain that service via CM/ECF does not constitute service under Rule 5(b)(2)(F), which covers service by other means to which the party being served has consented, and which is subject to the three-day rule.

A member asked whether the advisory committee had considered removing "consent" from the three-day rule as well. Judge Campbell responded that it had not; the issue was just brought to his attention this morning. The member noted that the three-day rule was invented for mail. He questioned the rationale behind applying it to leaving papers with the clerk when no one knows where the party is. He suggested that the advisory committee consider restricting the three-day rule to service by mail. Judge Campbell said that the advisory committee could consider this point. He added that these other methods of service have always been subject to the three-day rule and the advisory committee had not heard of a problem. Clearly, he said, electronic service no longer requires three extra days; the committee could look more broadly at whether three extra days are warranted in other circumstances. Judge Wedoff noted that there is a proposal to remove the added three days as widely as possible in the Bankruptcy Rules. Judge Sutton added that the member's point about whether three extra days were needed in other circumstances was a good one. At least, he said, the question could be raised in publication as to whether to remove other types of service from the three-day rule. He suggested that the advisory committee discuss it at their next meeting.

Judge Campbell said that the advisory committee would consider these issues and that he would want to hear the views of court clerks as well. However, he said, the advisory committee's plate was so full right now with considering the next steps for the proposals that were published last August, that he would prefer not to do that investigation now. One option, he said, would be to publish the proposal to eliminate electronic service from the three-day rule and ask for comment on whether the committee should also eliminate service by leaving the paper with the clerk or by other means consented to. Judge Sutton noted that the simplest route would be to delay publication during the investigation into the other means of service, but he saw no reason to hold off on removing the extra three days for electronic service. The member who had made the suggestion stated that he would not oppose publication, but that he thought it should ask for comment on whether the three-day rule should be abolished altogether. He noted that service by mail is now mostly limited to pro se litigants or people who do not have

computers. He said the committee could publish the proposal to remove electronic service from the three-day rule and ask for comments as to whether it would be wise to restrict it just to service by mail or to abolish it altogether.

Professor Capra noted that the idea of restricting the three-day rule came from the CM/ECF Subcommittee, and the idea was to have a uniform approach. He said all of the advisory committees would be considering this issue, except for the Evidence Rules Committee, but it was unlikely that it would be resolved by the spring.

A member asked whether there should be a separate three-day rule for pro se litigants. She noted that this is an issue primarily affecting pro se litigants, who often only receive service by mail. Judge Campbell noted that some courts do have CM/ECF for pro se litigants, so some do get instantaneous service.

Judge Sutton suggested that the committee could tentatively approve the proposal for publication with a slight variation in the committee note and questions requesting comment on whether the three-day rule should be deleted altogether or limited to service by mail. The hope, he said, would be for publication this summer. Judge Campbell agreed that this sounded like a fine approach.

The committee, without objection and by voice vote, tentatively approved the proposed amendment to Civil Rule 6(d) for publication, with a slight change in the committee note to address service under Rule 5(b)(2)(F), together with questions on whether the three-day rule should be abolished altogether or limited to service by mail. The committee will consider the final proposal again before publication, likely at its spring meeting.

Informational Items

FED. R. CIV. P. 17(c)(2)

Judge Campbell reported that the advisory committee had decided against further action on Rule 17(c)(2), which directs that "[t]he court must appoint a guardian ad litem—or issue another appropriate order—to protect a minor or incompetent person who is unrepresented in an action." He stated that in *Powell v. Symons*, 680 F.3d 301 (3d Cir. 2012), the Third Circuit had noted the lack of guidance as to when a court should appoint a lawyer or guardian to assist an unrepresented party. He said that research had revealed that six circuits have adopted standards similar to that of the Third Circuit, which is that there is no obligation to *sua sponte* inquire into competence. Under this view, Rule 17(c)(2) only applies when there is verifiable evidence of incompetence. Judge Campbell said that all circuits agree that there is no obligation to appoint a guardian just because a party exhibits odd behavior.

The advisory committee had concluded that it should not attempt to write a rule in this area. Judge Campbell explained that if judges were obligated to inquire about a guardian whenever they saw something less than full competence, the issue would become unmanageable. Further, he said, there were no resources readily available to pay for guardians. In fact, he said, there were not usually funds available to pay for appointed lawyers either. Judge Campbell said that to write a rule that sets standards for the wide variety of circumstances in which this could arise would be nearly impossible. He added that relevant considerations would include evidence of incompetence, other resources available to assist the person, the merits of the claim, the risk to the opposing party in terms of time and delay, case management steps, and more. The advisory committee concluded that this was best left to the common law. Judge Campbell said the advisory committee felt that these issues need to be decided on a case-by-case basis and that principles will develop over time. As a result, he said the advisory committee recommended no action at this time.

A member stated that he agreed with the advisory committee's conclusion, noting that it is a case-by-case judgment call as to how to handle incompetence. Further, he said, there can be verifiable evidence of incompetence even with lawyers involved.

#### E-RULES

Judge Campbell reported that the advisory committee, along with the other advisory committees, is in the early stages of addressing the question of what to do with electronic communications under the rules. He said one option is to adopt a rule that says anything that can be done in writing can be done electronically, but that raises all kinds of complications. Another option is to go rule by rule and determine what to do with the issue of electronic communications.

# DISCOVERY COST SHIFTING

Judge Campbell stated that the advisory committee's discovery subcommittee is in the early stages of examining the question of whether the rules should expand the circumstances in which a party requesting discovery should pay part or all of the costs of responding. He said that Congress and some bar groups had asked for a review of this issue. The proposals published for comment last August include revision of Rule 26(c) to make explicit the authority to enter a protective order that allocates the costs of responding to discovery. If this proposal is adopted, experience in administering it may provide some guidance on the question of whether more specific rule provisions may be useful. Judge Campbell said the advisory committee is in the early stages of examining this issue and will report on its progress in the future.

#### **CACM PROJECTS**

Judge Campbell reported that the Court Administration and Case Management Committee (CACM) has raised a number of topics that may lead to Civil Rules amendments, but that action on all of these topics has been deferred pending further development by CACM.

#### PUBLISHED PROPOSALS

Judge Campbell reported that the advisory committee had held two of the three scheduled public hearings on the proposals published for comment. He said 40 more witnesses were scheduled for an upcoming hearing in Dallas, with 29 more on the waiting list. He said the advisory committee was not scheduling another hearing because it would be too difficult to fit a fourth hearing in all of the members' schedules, and the advisory committee was committed to reading all of the written submissions. He said 405 submissions had already been received and that the committee will review them all carefully. He noted that the hearings have been very valuable and there is work to do to refine the proposals. He added that the advisory committee will decide what to do at its April meeting and will make a recommendation to the Standing Committee at its May meeting.

A participant asked if that schedule was too expedited. He asked whether the advisory committee would have enough time to do the job by the May meeting. Judge Campbell said he thought there was sufficient time. He noted that the advisory committee had been working on the published proposals for five years. He said the committee's task in April will not be gathering information, but using its best judgment in light of everything it had heard through public comment.

#### REPORT OF THE ADVISORY COMMITTEE ON CRIMINAL RULES

Judge Raggi and Professors Beale and King presented the report of the advisory committee, as set forth in Judge Raggi's memorandum of December 20, 2013 (Agenda Item 5), and her supplemental memorandum of December 30, 2013.

Amendment for Final Approval

# FED. R. CRIM. P. 12

Judge Sutton reported that the advisory committee had been considering amendments to FED. R. CRIM. P. 12 on motions that must be raised before trial and the consequences of late-filed motions since 2006. He provided some background on the current proposals. He noted that the Judicial Conference had approved the proposed

amendment to Rule 12 that the committee had approved at its last meeting and had transmitted it to the Supreme Court. The Court had raised several questions about the proposed amendment. Judge Sutton noted that the package of proposals, including Criminal Rule 12, had been submitted to the Court earlier than in years past to give the Court flexibility in terms of timing its review of the proposals. He noted that one benefit of submitting the proposals early is that if the Court had questions, they might be able to be addressed within the same rulemaking cycle. He stated that this was uncharted territory because in the past, when the proposals were submitted to the Court later, if the Court had questions about the proposals, it would simply recommit them to the advisory committee for further consideration. In this case, however, there might be time to propose changes and have them considered by the Court in the same rulemaking cycle.

Judge Sutton noted that the Court had raised several questions about the Rule 12 proposal. First, as transmitted to the Court, the proposed amendment had stated that the court could consider an untimely motion raising a claim of failure to state an offense (FTSO) if the defendant showed prejudice. The Court had asked to whom the required prejudice would be. Judge Sutton noted that the intent of the amendment was that it would be prejudice to the defendant. Second, the Court had asked, if the prejudice is to the defendant, how the defendant would show prejudice before trial. Judge Sutton stated that one form of prejudice is lack of notice, and another occurs if the grand jury did not properly indict under the elements of the crime. Third, the Court had noted the anomaly of having in proposed Rule 12(c)(3)(A) a required showing of "good cause" for relief from the consequences of failing to timely raise most Rule 12(b)(3) motions, while proposed Rule 12(c)(3)(B) would require prejudice for consideration of late-raised FTSO claims. Judge Sutton noted that by requiring "good cause" alone in (A) and "prejudice" alone in (B), the implication was that there was no requirement of showing "prejudice" in (A). That is not what the committee intended. On the other hand, by requiring "good cause" in (A), and only "prejudice" in (B), the committee had intended the negative implication to be that there was no requirement of showing "cause" under (B) for claims of failure to state an offense. Judge Sutton added that it was odd to have language in the same subsection that intended one negative implication but not another negative implication.

Judge Raggi then explained that the advisory committee recommended resolving the third concern raised by the Court by having one standard for relief from failure to timely raise all Rule 12(b)(3) motions — "good cause," the standard currently used in the rule. She noted that there was disquiet, especially among the members of the defense bar on the committee, about making an FTSO claim a required pre-trial motion when for so long it had been viewed as the equivalent of jurisdiction and something that could be raised at any time. She added that, faced with the fact that it is now recognized as something that should be raised early on, some members of the defense bar had suggested that the committee use a different standard for FTSO claims that would be easier to meet

than "good cause." That is why the advisory committee eventually decided to use just "prejudice" for FTSO claims, no matter what the cause for failing to raise it in timely manner. She noted that everyone recognized that it was a bit curious to have two standards for granting relief from the consequences of belatedly filing a required pretrial motion. She said that the advisory committee has now had more time to think about the proposal. The advisory committee did not want to put the Rule 12 proposal in jeopardy by insisting on two standards. The subcommittee had given it enormous thought and decided that pursuing a separate standard for FTSO claims was not worth the risk to the whole proposal and that "good cause" would be adequate for those claims.

Judge Raggi noted that no one stands convicted of a crime unless every element of the crime is proven beyond a reasonable doubt. The proposed rule addresses only those situations where even though a defendant is proven guilty beyond a reasonable doubt on every element, a failure to charge it correctly should for some reason be heard late on a showing of prejudice. But, she asked, what would the prejudice be in that situation? The advisory committee, she said, had asked what they were really putting at risk by insisting on two standards. She stated that it was now the subcommittee's view and the unanimous view of the advisory committee that it was not worthwhile to pursue a separate standard for FTSO claims, and that a "good cause" standard should apply for all late-raised claims that are not jurisdictional.

Judge Raggi noted that, at the suggestion of a member of the advisory committee, the committee note had been revised to explain that "good cause" is "a flexible standard that requires consideration of all interests in the particular case." She said that this language was in brackets, but that it would be part of the text of the committee note, if approved. This language, she said, would make clear that the court should consider cause, consider prejudice, and consider everything that might be relevant. She explained that the reason the words "cause and prejudice" were not used was to avoid confusion with the use of that phrase in the habeas corpus context. Instead, the revised note language is intended to make clear that "good cause" is a holistic inquiry. She stated that it made sense to trust the district judges to understand that.

Judge Raggi requested that the committee approve the revised proposed amendment to Rule 12 and the accompanying committee note. Finally, Judge Raggi noted that the advisory committee was unsure about whether the change could be accomplished in the current rulemaking cycle. One of the questions the advisory committee had raised, she said, was whether this was a change that would require republication. She reported that the advisory committee was not sure and had consulted with Professor Coquillette, who did not think republication was necessary. She noted that if the committee approved the revised proposal, it could potentially go back to the Court and be considered in this year's rulemaking cycle. She said it was the Standing Committee's decision whether to republish.

Professor Coquillette noted that traditionally the committee republishes when anyone would be surprised by the changes after publication and would feel that they did not have a chance to debate the proposal. But, he noted that in this case, the appropriate standard for relief from late-raised FTSO claims had been debated back and forth for the seven year history of this proposal. Everyone had notice that the appropriate standard was at issue and had a chance to comment on that during the public comment period. Judge Sutton also noted that for the past eight years or so, everyone has known that the rule was being changed to require FTSO claims to be brought before trial and the standard for raising such claims late has been on the table the whole time.

A member stated that his initial reaction was to republish, but that he realized that the Court had the authority to make changes to the committee's proposals itself. If the Court wanted to make a change and just wanted to make sure the rules committees agreed, then it would seem to be a procedure contemplated by the Rules Enabling Act. However, if the proposal is really back in the committee's court, then he said he would have to grapple with the republication question. He stated that he tended to think it is better to republish in the case of a "tie."

Judge Sutton stated that the Court could have proceeded in different ways and this is uncharted territory, but that he believed the committee should treat the proposal as if it were back in front of the committee. Another member asked what the procedure would be if the proposal had gone to a vote in the Court and been rejected. Judge Sutton responded that it depends, and that if a subsequent change by the committees had already been fully vetted, it would not be republished. The reason for republication is if the committee thinks it will get new insights or if someone will be surprised by a change. The member noted that the republication question is similar to a court amending an opinion and giving another opportunity for filing a petition for rehearing. She said that if the changes on rehearing are responsive to the comments already received, the courts usually do not give another opportunity for rehearing.

Professor Beale noted that there had been a previous occasion in which the advisory committee had made changes in response to a remand from the Supreme Court and the committee had not republished. Professor Capra noted that the Evidence Rules Committee had not republished when it made changes after a proposed amendment to Evidence Rule 804(b)(3) was returned by the Court.

Judge Raggi noted that not only had the advisory committee heard lots on this subject, but what it is proposing now is to leave the standard in the current rule in place.

Another member stated that he had no views on the need to republish, but questioned whether there is a negative implication in the new proposed committee note language describing "good cause" as a "flexible standard that requires consideration of all

interests in the particular case." The member explained that the existing standard has been interpreted to require showing, among other things, prejudice, and he wondered whether the note language could potentially be understood to relieve a defendant of having to show prejudice.

Judge Raggi responded that she could not foreclose the possibility of the language being read that way, but from a practical perspective, this is how Rule 12 now treats FTSO claims. She added that, up until the time the jury is empaneled and jeopardy attaches, Rule 12, in another section, lets a trial judge entertain any motion. She stated that presumably on appeal, circuit courts will continue to apply a plain error standard to late-raised claims. So, she said, we are talking about what the judge will entertain in the window of time between when jeopardy attaches and when judgment is entered. Judge Raggi stated that she would be surprised if trial judges would entertain such late motions without a showing of prejudice once jeopardy has attached. She added that if the committee were to see that happening in practice, it could consider amending the rule to spell out a prejudice requirement in the rule, but, given that district judges are constrained by this portion of the rule only in the time between jeopardy attaching and judgment, she thought most judges would require a showing of prejudice. The member stated that as a practical matter that is true, but that he was not sure that the new language in the note added anything. He stated that if it does not add anything substantive, it is not needed.

Judge Raggi explained that the note language explaining that "good cause" is a "flexible standard" makes one of the defense bar members supportive of the proposal, which is something that should not be discounted. She stated that all three advisory committee members who represent defendants voted for this rule in part because of this new language in the note. In fact, she said, something even more detailed had been proposed originally by a defense bar member.

Judge Sutton noted that "good cause" suggests flexibility and that to the extent some have concerns about putting FTSO defenses with all other claims required to be raised before trial, emphasizing flexibility is important to make clear that courts might treat different types of late-raised motions differently, depending on the circumstances.

Another member asked if the new note language is a comfort blanket for some members of the advisory committee. Judge Raggi agreed that it was in part, but noted that the language was derived from the fact that some members wanted to ensure that judges would understand that the seriousness of the motion should also be taken into account in deciding the consequences of a late-raised motion, while recognizing that it would not be appropriate to assume that every FTSO motion is more important than every multiplicity motion, for example.

A member questioned whether there are examples of a change like this going through without being republished. Judge Sutton responded that there were, both with respect to Criminal Rules proposals and Evidence Rules proposals, but the fact that there were other instances in which the committee had made changes after remand from the Supreme Court without republishing does not mean that there should never be republication in response to comments from the Court. But here, he noted, the Rule 12 proposed changes seemed more like the instances in which the committees had not republished. Judge Raggi noted that the advisory committee had already made changes to the Rule 12 proposal after publication without republishing. She added that the advisory committee had received many comments from the defense bar on the published proposals and that while there is the possibility that someone might argue that the last version they saw had a separate standard for FTSO claims, she was not sure that the committee was ever obliged to have two different standards as opposed to the one that is there. The cost of republishing, she noted, would be putting off the effective date of the rule change by another two years. She was comforted by the fact that not one of the defense members of the advisory committee had urged republication.

Judge Sutton noted that the advisory committee had made more substantive changes after publication and before sending it back to the Standing Committee than the current proposed change. Judge Raggi agreed, but noted that the changes after public comment had been made in response to comments received during the public comment period. Professor Coquillette noted that the history of this rule proposal did not require republication here, where the defense bar members of the advisory committee did not have concerns and the issues have been fully discussed. He added that none of the defense bar members of the advisory committee had argued that this change would be a surprise.

A member moved to approve the proposed amendment to Rule 12. The member who had questioned the note language seconded the motion, explaining that as a practical matter, district judges will have no problem applying the amendment and note language. The committee unanimously approved the proposed amendment without republication. Judge Sutton noted that if the proposal is approved in the rest of the Rules Enabling Act process, the committees will closely monitor what happens with FTSO defenses and the "good cause" standard. Judge Sutton thanked Professors Beale and King for their hard work on this proposal.

The committee, without objection and by voice vote, approved the proposed amendment to Criminal Rule 12 for transmission to the Judicial Conference for final approval.

# Informational Items

Judge Raggi noted that the advisory committee did not meet in the fall because of the lapse in appropriations due to the government shutdown, but that the advisory committee had a full agenda for its spring meeting.

# FED. R. CRIM. P. 4

Judge Raggi reported that the advisory committee was considering the Department of Justice's request to amend Rule 4, which deals with service of summons. The Department had suggested that the rule is deficient for serving foreign organizations who have no agent or place of business in the United States, but whose conduct has criminal consequences in the United States. The current rule allows serving organizations at their last known mailing address in the United States, but these foreign entities do not have any such address. Until there is an appearance by the foreign entity, it cannot be prosecuted, but the Department asserted that if there was a way to properly serve such entities, many of them would enter an appearance rather than risk consequences like forfeiture. Judge Raggi noted that the request appeared to be driven by a desire to have a means of service that would either get foreign entities to respond or would permit the Department to begin forfeiture proceedings if the foreign entity did not respond. Judge Raggi noted that whether it is appropriate for forfeiture proceedings to be instituted based on service is a matter for future litigation.

As to what methods a proposed rule might approve for service, Judge Raggi reported that it is clear that the advisory committee will recommend that if there is an applicable treaty that provides for service in a particular manner, such service will suffice. Similarly, she said, compliance with an agreement with a foreign country on the proper means of service will also suffice. Judge Raggi added that the Department also seeks to have a "catch-all" provision that anything that a judge signs off on will suffice, but some members of the advisory committee were uncomfortable with that because a judge might order service by a U.S. official that would violate the foreign country's laws. She noted that if the object of service is a person, it does not matter how he or she got before the court. She said that the proposal has moved towards including a catch-all provision that would instruct the Department to serve in whatever manner it thinks is reasonable and then the court can deal with the issue of due process once the defendant enters an appearance.

The proposed amendment would ensure organizations that are committing domestic offenses are not able to avoid liability through the expedient of declining to maintain an agent, place of business, or mailing address within the United States. A subcommittee has been assigned to consider the proposal and has approved a proposed amendment for discussion by the full advisory committee. The advisory committee will

take it up at its April meeting.

# FED. R. CRIM. P. 41

Judge Raggi reported that the Department has also submitted a proposal to amend Rule 41 to enlarge the territorial limits for warrants to search electronic storage media and electronically stored information. The purpose of the proposed amendment is to enable law enforcement to investigate and prosecute botnets and crimes involving Internet anonymizing technologies. Rule 41(b) does not directly address the circumstances that arise when officers seek to execute search warrants, via remote access, over modern communications networks such as the Internet. The proposed amendment is intended to address two increasingly common situations: (1) where the warrant sufficiently describes the computer to be searched but the district within which that computer is located is unknown, and (2) where the investigation requires law enforcement to coordinate searches of numerous computers in numerous districts. The Department reports problems with determining the district in which to seek the warrant when it does not know where the computer to be searched is located.

The proposed amendment would authorize a court in a district where activities related to a crime have occurred to issue a warrant to be executed by remote access for electronic storage media and electronically stored information whether located within or outside the district. Judge Raggi noted that there were potential concerns about the particularity requirements of warrants when the Department does not know exactly what it is searching. Thus, the advisory committee had asked the Department to draft some warrants of the sort that it thinks might need judicial authorization. Judge Raggi added that once the advisory committee sees examples of the types of warrants that might be presented to federal judges, it will have a better idea of how to proceed. She said that the proposal has been referred to a subcommittee, which is expected to report at the advisory committee's April meeting.

# OTHER PROPOSALS

Judge Raggi noted that other proposals under consideration were in the agenda materials and did not need an oral report at this time. One such proposal involved the question of whether there is any need to clarify Rule 53, which prohibits "broadcasting" judicial proceedings in order to clarify the rule's application to tweets from the courtroom. Another requests the committee to consider amending Rules 11 and 32 to make presentence reports available in advance of a guilty plea so that all parties will be aware of the potential sentence. Another proposal under consideration would amend Rule 45(c) to eliminate the three extra days currently provided to respond when service is made by electronic means.

# REPORT OF THE ADVISORY COMMITTEE ON EVIDENCE RULES

Judge Fitzwater and Professor Capra presented the report of the advisory committee, as set forth in Judge Fitzwater's memorandum of December 2, 2013 (Agenda Item 6). Judge Fitzwater noted that the advisory committee had no action items to present.

# Informational Items

Judge Fitzwater reported that the proposed amendment to Rule 803(10), the hearsay exception for the absence of public records, which the Standing Committee approved in June 2012, took effect on December 1, 2013.

He noted that four proposals from the advisory committee were pending before the Supreme Court. The proposed amendments to Rules 801(d)(1)(B) and 803(6)–(8) had been approved by the Standing Committee in June 2013, were approved by the Judicial Conference on the consent calendar at its September 2013 meeting, and had been transmitted to the Supreme Court for consideration.

Judge Fitzwater reported that the Fall 2013 meeting, which would have included a technology symposium and which had been cancelled due to the government shutdown, was rescheduled at the same location for Spring 2014. He said the Department of Justice would not be presenting on the electronic signature issue, as had been planned for the original symposium, although the advisory committee would be willing to host them if continuing dialogue would be desirable. Judge Sutton commented that the advisory committee should think about whether it would be useful to bring people together to discuss the electronic signature issue. Judge Fitzwater noted that it does dovetail with the technology symposium that the advisory committee is planning in conjunction with its next meeting. He added that the symposium might examine things like the ancient document exception to the hearsay rule, which may seem anachronistic in the current era of data storage.

Judge Sutton noted that Professor Capra recently appeared on the cover of the *Fordham Lawyer*, a magazine published by the Fordham Law School, and that the complimentary article featured Professor Capra's work for the rules committees.

# PANEL DISCUSSION ON THE POLITICAL AND PROFESSIONAL CONTEXT OF RULEMAKING

Professor Coquillette presided over a panel discussion on the political and professional context of rulemaking. The other panelists included Judge Huff, a former committee member; Judge Wood, a former committee member; Judge Rosenthal, former chair of the Standing and Civil Rules Committees; Judge Anthony Scirica (by phone),

former chair of the committee and former chair of the Executive Committee of the Judicial Conference; and Peter G. McCabe, former secretary to the committee. Professor Coquillette introduced each member and stated their relevant background.

# PROFESSOR COQUILLETTE

Professor Coquillette provided background on opposition to the rules committees' work. He noted that historically there have been three groups who are suspicious about the rules committees' work, including the traditional formalists, who believed that the judge's role is to decide cases, not to do anything prospective; the rule skeptics, who thought that uniformity through codification, with transsubstantive rules that apply in all types of cases, was not practical; and the political populists, who believe that rulemaking ought to be done by elected representatives of the people. Professor Coquillette noted that while the rules committees could never please these three groups, they should continue to be sensitive to their concerns.

# PETER G. MCCABE

Mr. McCabe provided background on the history of the Rules Enabling Act. He discussed changes the rules committees made over time to make the process more open, transparent, and easily accessible. Mr. McCabe also discussed the committees' efforts to make sure there was a strong empirical basis for amendments. He also emphasized the committees' efforts to ensure evenhandedness and the nonpolitical nature of their role. To get a wide range of views, the rules committees take measures such as inviting members of the bar to come to meetings, conducting surveys and miniconferences, and reaching out to congressional members and staff to inform them about the rulemaking process and about pending rule amendments. Mr. McCabe concluded that the rulemaking system is healthy, effective, and credible, but that the challenge of balancing authority between the judicial and legislative branches will continue to exist and will be an area that the committees will continuously need to focus their attention.

#### JUDGE ANTHONY J. SCIRICA

Judge Scirica spoke about his experience with the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act and the Class Action Fairness Act and their impact on the rules committees' work. He emphasized the benefits of delegating rulemaking authority to the judiciary through the careful process set out in the Rules Enabling Act, but noted that substantive matters are best addressed by Congress.

### JUDGE LEE H. ROSENTHAL

Judge Rosenthal discussed how the rules committees can engage with Congress without becoming politicized. She emphasized the importance of effective and energetic

explanation of the careful, transparent, open, and deliberate nature of the Rules Enabling Act and its process, as well as clear explanation of the purpose behind the delegation of authority under that Act. She noted that the rules committees have worked closely with Congress on a number of issues, including the enactment of Evidence Rule 502 and statutory changes to correspond to recent changes to the Appellate Rules and to the recent Time Computation Project. She concluded that the rules committees need to continue to be vigilant in explaining the importance of the rulemaking process under the Rules Enabling Act and in informing Congress of upcoming changes, while remaining distant from political pressures.

#### JUDGE MARILYN L. HUFF

Judge Huff discussed her experience with the Time Computation Project, which went through each set of rules to make counting time uniform and easier to apply. She said that as part of the project, the committees had examined the federal statutes that would be affected by such changes and that Congress ultimately amended 29 statutes in conjunction with the project. Judge Huff also discussed her experience as the liaison to the Evidence Rules Committee and as a member of the Standing Committee's Style Subcommittee during the project to restyle the Evidence Rules. Finally, Judge Huff discussed her experience serving on the Standing Committee's Forms Subcommittee. She concluded that these examples show that, consistent with the Rules Enabling Act process, there are often workable solutions within the judiciary, with congressional involvement, to some concerns about the litigation process.

#### JUDGE DIANE P. WOOD

Judge Wood discussed the triggers for rules committee action, and said triggers include legislative changes; Supreme Court decisions; suggestions from judges, academics, and empirical researchers; and examination of state court practices. She discussed instances in which the rules committees should be skeptical of these triggers. She also introduced the idea of a qualification to the generally accepted norm that the rules are transsubstantive, noting that the committees aim for more than transsubstantivity and seek to make rules that have a broad generality that can be applied in every case in federal court. She concluded that the committees now have the challenge of dealing with problems that may change more quickly than the rulemaking process and that the committees may need another model for that type of problem. She noted that some problems are best addressed outside the rulemaking arena.

#### REPORT OF THE CM/ECF SUBCOMMITTEE

Professor Capra reported on the work of the CM/ECF Subcommittee, as set out in Judge Michael Chagares's memorandum and attachments of December 4, 2013 (Agenda Item 7). He said there are five main items that the subcommittee has been working on,

and that its work would probably move forward in stages. He added that the reporters to the advisory committees had done outstanding work for the subcommittee.

The first issue the subcommittee was working on was electronic signatures, as explained during the Bankruptcy Rules Committee's report. Professor Capra explained that if the Bankruptcy Rules proposal works, other committees will likely follow with similar proposals, and the CM/ECF Subcommittee will oversee the process. He said that the problem the rule is trying to deal with is not forgery, but using a single signature line and putting it on multiple documents.

Professor Capra said that the second step the subcommittee took was for the reporters to look through their respective rules to see where use of CM/ECF may conflict with existing language. He said addressing all of the items found would be a daunting task. For example, he said, there were dozens of places in the Criminal and Bankruptcy Rules that may not accommodate use of CM/ECF.

The third matter the subcommittee looked at was abrogation of the three-day rule. Professor Capra said that he would take the comments received today on the Civil Rules proposal back to the subcommittee. He added that he thought it was likely that the committees could coordinate a uniform committee note and that the goal would be for the rules to be changed in as uniform a manner as possible. He added that the reporters had been working hard on this issue.

Fourth, Professor Capra said that the subcommittee was looking at the proposal for a civil rule requiring electronic filing. He said he thought this was possibly feasible, but that there are issues about what the exceptions should be. He added that one reason it may be desirable to have a requirement of electronic filing in the federal rules is that the local rules already require it almost universally. On the other hand, he said, the local rules have a lot of exceptions and are not uniform in terms of the exceptions, and that is something that needs to be worked through.

Professor Capra reported that the final issue the subcommittee was considering was whether it would be useful and feasible to have a universal rule that would essentially say that "paper equals electrons." The subcommittee is examining whether, instead of going through all of the rules and changing each rule to accommodate electronic filing and information, there is the possibility of a universal fix. Professor Capra noted that there is a proposed template for such an approach in the agenda materials. The first part of the template would say, "In these rules, [unless otherwise provided] a reference to information in written form includes electronically stored information." Professor Capra said that this tracks what the Evidence Rules have done, but that there can be problems with this approach. For example, he said, the Criminal Rules would need carve-outs. The second part of the template would state: "In these rules, [unless otherwise provided] any action that can or must be completed by filing or sending paper may also be

accomplished by electronic means [that are consistent with any technical standards established by the Judicial Conference of the United States]." He said that there were still a lot of issues and potential problems to think through, including the need for exceptions, as to whether such an approach would work.

Professor Capra said that the subcommittee was working with CACM because the "CM/ECF Next Gen" was being overseen by that committee and it would clearly have implications for the subcommittee's work. He added that the committee does not yet know what Next Gen will do and there is a concern in the subcommittee that the rules committees should be cautious about getting too far out in advance of a problem that does not yet exist. He said that to try to change the rules in advance of Next Gen, when Next Gen might not be what the committees think it is, could create problems. He said that the subcommittee is therefore proceeding with caution.

A member noted that Next Gen is behind schedule and it might be at least two years away from completion. Professor Capra added that there are CACM members on the subcommittee and CACM staff in the Administrative Office who are helping with the subcommittee's work as well.

#### **NEXT COMMITTEE MEETING**

Judge Sutton concluded the meeting by thanking the AO staff for the wonderful job in planning the meeting and coordinating all of the logistics. The committee will hold its next meeting on May 29–30, 2014, in Washington, D.C.

Respectfully submitted,

Jonathan C. Rose Secretary

Andrea L. Kuperman Chief Counsel